

Five-Year Review Report
for the
Liberty Industrial Finishing Superfund Site
Farmingdale
Town of Oyster Bay
Nassau County, New York



March 2012

PREPARED BY:

U.S. Environmental Protection Agency
Region II
New York, New York

Approved by:

Date:

Walter E. Mugdan, Director
Emergency and Remedial Response Division
U.S. Environmental Protection Agency

Five-Year Review Report

Table of Contents

List of Acronyms iv

Executive Summary vii

Five-Year Review Summary Form viii

I. Introduction 1

II. Site Chronology 1

III. Background 1

 Site Location and Description 1

 Geology/Hydrogeology 2

 Land and Resource Use 2

 History of Contamination 3

 Initial Responses 3

 Basis for Taking Action 4

IV. Site-wide Remedial Actions 6

 Remedy Selection 6

 Remedy Implementation 8

 Institutional Controls 10

V. Progress Since the Last Five-Year Review 14

VI. Five-Year Review Process 15

 Administrative Components 15

 Community Involvement 15

 Document Review 15

 Data Review 15

 Site Inspection 16

VII. Technical Assessment 16

Question A: Is the remedy functioning as intended by the decision documents? 16

Question B: Are the (a) exposure assumptions, (b) toxicity data, (c) cleanup levels, and (d) remedial action objectives (RAOs) used at the time of the remedy selection still valid? 18

Question C: Has any other information come to light that could call into question the protectiveness of the remedy? 19

 Technical Assessment Summary 19

VIII. Issues, Recommendations and Follow-up Actions 19

IX. Protectiveness Statement 20

X. Next Review 21

XI. Bibliography for Liberty Industrial Finishing Superfund Site 22

Tables

- Table 1 – Chronology of Events
- Table 2 – Chronology of Major Groundwater Remediation System Construction Events
- Table 3 – Groundwater Recovery System Design Flow Rate
- Table 4 – Chronology of Major Pond Sediments Remedial Action Construction Events
- Table 5 – Recommendations and Follow-up Actions

Figures

- Figure 1 – Liberty Industrial Finishing Site Location Map
- Figure 2 – Plume A/Plume B Map
- Figure 3 – Liberty Industrial Finishing Site Conditions Map (Pre-Remedial Action)
- Figure 4 – Massapequa Preserve Surface Water, Sediment, and Fish Tissue Sampling Locations Map
- Figure 5 – Phase I Demolition Area & Western Parcel and Central Parcel Subsurface Features Location Map
- Figure 6 – Groundwater Remediation System’s On-Site and Off-Site Construction Activities Layout
- Figure 7 – Farmingdale Plaza Cleaners Site Location Map

Appendices

- Appendix 1 – Farmingdale Observer Public Notice of First Five-Year Review
- Appendix 2 – Five-Year Review Site Inspection Report

List of Abbreviations and Acronyms

AOC	Administrative Order on Consent
AWQS	water quality standards
BHHRA	Baseline Human Health Risk Assessment
bgs	below ground surface
cis-1,2-DCE),	cis-1,2-dichloroethene
CERCLA	Comprehensive Environmental Response, Compensation and Liability Act of 1980 as Amended
CY	cubic yards
EPA	United States Environmental Protection Agency
ESD	Explanation of Significant Differences
FS	Feasibility Study
GAC	granulated activated carbon
GRS	Groundwater Remediation System
HI	Hazard Index
HQ	Hazard Quotient
IC	Institutional Control
MCLs	Maximum Contaminant Levels
mg/kg	milligram per kilogram
mg/l	milligrams/liter
MSL	Mean Sea Level
µg/l	micrograms/liter
NPL	National Priorities List
NYSDEC	New York State Department of Environmental Conservation
NYSDOH	New York State Department of Health
O&F	Operational & Functional
O&M	Operation and Maintenance
OMMP	Operation, Maintenance, and Monitoring Plan
OU	Operable Unit
PCBs	Polychlorinated Biphenyls
PCE	tetrachloroethene

PCOR	Preliminary Close-out Report
PPA	Prospective Purchaser Agreement
PRP	Potentially Responsible Party
RA	Remedial Action
RD/RA	Remedial Design/ Remedial Action
RAB	Removal Action Branch
RAO	Remedial Action Objective
RAR	Remedial Action Report
RCRA	Resource Conservation and Recovery Act
RD	Remedial Design
RI	Remedial Investigation
RI/FS	Remedial Investigation/Feasibility Study
ROD	Record of Decision
ROW	right of way
RPM	Remedial Project Manager
SEL	Severe Effect Level
SMP	Site/Soil Management Plan
SPDES	State Pollutant Discharge Elimination System
SVI	soil vapor intrusion
SVOCs	Semivolatile Organic Compounds
TAGM	NYSDEC's Technical and Administrative Memorandum
TCE	trichloroethene
TCLP	Toxicity Characteristic Leachate Procedure
TOB	Town of Oyster Bay
UST	Underground Storage Tank
UAO	Unilateral Administrative Order
VOC	Volatile Organic Compound

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

A five-year review was completed for the Liberty Industrial Finishing Superfund site (Site), located in the Village of Farmingdale, Nassau County, New York. This is the first five-year review for this Site, triggered by the initiation of the first remedial action at the Site, namely, pond sediments remedial action. The comprehensive remedy selected in the 2002 Record of Decision (ROD) required excavation and off-Site disposal of 73,100 cubic yards of contaminated soils, removal of contaminated aqueous and/or solid materials from underground storage tanks and subsurface features, construction and operation of a conventional pump-and-treat system to address on-Site (i.e., on-property) and off-Site (i.e., off-property) groundwater contamination (designated as Plume A, the origin of which is attributed to the Site), and excavation and off-Site disposal of 2,600 cubic yards of contaminated Pond A sediments at the Massapequa Preserve. The comprehensive remedial action also calls for and includes construction and operation of an on-property conventional pump-and-treat system to address groundwater underlying the Site property, designated as Plume B, which originates to the north of the Site and migrates in a southerly direction before commingling with a portion of Plume A.

All components of the remedial action specified in the 2002 ROD have been implemented except for the installation of the on-property Plume B extraction and treatment system because the New York State Department of Environmental Conservation (NYSDEC) has taken over the investigation and off-property remediation of Plume B. NYSDEC's actions will ensure protectiveness of human health and the environment so that the remedy selected in the 2002 ROD for Plume B is no longer necessary. EPA is presently proceeding with a separate action to amend the 2002 ROD to give NYSDEC the lead agency role to address Plume B, including any Plume B remediation, as part of its response action at the Farmingdale Plaza Cleaners site, a state Superfund site which is upgradient of the Liberty Industrial Finishing site and is suspected to be the source of Plume B.

Institutional controls (ICs) at the Site include prohibition on groundwater use for human consumption and restriction of the use of the Site property to commercial-industrial or recreational uses as applicable, pursuant to the ROD (and as the use restrictions in the ROD are expected to be modified by an Explanation of Significant Differences that EPA expects to shortly announce for the 7.5 acre Central Parcel (Tax Lot 331) of the Liberty site property). The ICs have been implemented at the Liberty Site and the ESD will confirm the change in use of the Central Parcel to recreational use.

The Groundwater Remediation System (GRS) groundwater monitoring program has been put in place to monitor the effectiveness of the GRS as well as the progress of groundwater improvement following the removal of on-Site sources. The GRS groundwater monitoring program is scheduled to continue for as long as the GRS is in operation and until the groundwater cleanup goals are attained.

The remedy currently protects human health and the environment because contaminated soils and Pond A sediments have been excavated and disposed of off Site, the pump and treat system is addressing contaminated groundwater, the ICs have been implemented at the Site, and the State and County ordinances prevent groundwater consumption. In order to be protective in the long-term, the full extent of the groundwater contaminant plume in the shallow plume should be delineated.

Comment [MSOffice1]: Without treatment? Or full prohibition of use? Until when? It meets GW standards?

Comment [MSOffice2]: This section is not identified on the figures, just "western" and "eastern" sections. Can this paragraph just note that an ESD is expected to be filed in the near future that may change site use?

Comment [MSOffice3]: If the ICs have been implemented, does that mean the EE has been filed and if so, would that require a modification and refilling if the land use is changed for the 3 parcels: ie Western, Central = Restricted Residential (aka Recreational), Eastern = Commercial?

Comment [MSOffice4]: State ordinance? The Environmental Easement would prevent groundwater use without treatment to meet drinking water standards or groundwater standards. I suggest using the exact language of the EE. Local and/or county ordinances may exist, however.

Comment [MSOffice5]: Should this be removed and left at "the groundwater plume should be delineated"?

Five-Year Review Summary Form

SITE IDENTIFICATION		
Site Name: Liberty Industrial Finishing Superfund Site		
EPA ID: NYD000337295		
Region: 2	State: NY	City/County: Farmingdale/Nassau County
SITE STATUS		
NPL Status: Final		
Multiple OUs? No	Has the site achieved construction completion? No	
REVIEW STATUS		
Lead agency: EPA If "Other Federal Agency" was selected above, enter Agency name: Click here to enter text.		
Author name (Federal or State Project Manager): Lorenzo Thantu		
Author affiliation: EPA/ERRD/NYRB/ENYRS		
Review period: 09/2007 – 03/2012		
Date of site inspection: December 12, 2011		
Type of review: Statutory		
Review number: 1		
Triggering action date: September 27, 2007		
Due date (five years after triggering action date): September 27, 2012		

Five-Year Review Summary Form (continued)

The table below is for the purpose of the summary form and associated data entry and does not replace the two tables required in Section VIII and IX by the FYR guidance. Instead, data entry in this section should match information in Section VII and IX of the FYR report.

Issues/Recommendations

OU(s) without Issues/Recommendations Identified in the Five-Year Review:
N/A

Issues and Recommendations Identified in the Five-Year Review:

OU(s): 01	Issue Category: Monitoring			
	Issue: Reinstatement of various pre-existing monitoring wells as part of the GRS groundwater monitoring program			
	Recommendation: Refurbish and reinstate pre-existing monitoring wells MW-9A, MW-36A, MW-10A, MW-10B, and potentially MW-23B, contingent on sampling results from the previously listed wells			
Affect Current Protectiveness	Affect Future Protectiveness	Implementing Party	Oversight Party	Milestone Date
No	Yes	PRPs	EPA	December 31, 2012
OU(s): 01	Issue Category: Monitoring			
	Issue: Plume B Vapor Intrusion Evaluation			
	Recommendation: Recommend NYSDEC continue to consider the potential VI pathway as part of its ongoing Plume B investigation and remediation			
Affect Current Protectiveness	Affect Future Protectiveness	Implementing Party	Oversight Party	Milestone Date
No	No	NYSDEC	N/A	N/A
OU(s): 01	Issue Category: Monitoring			
	Issue: Enhanced monitoring program for the Massapequa Preserve			
	Recommendation: Recommend the design and implementation of the enhanced monitoring program			
Affect Current Protectiveness	Affect Future Protectiveness	Implementing Party	Oversight Party	Milestone Date

Protectiveness	Protectiveness	Party	Party	
No	No	PRPs	EPA	December 31, 2012

To add additional issues/recommendations here, copy and paste the above table as many times as necessary to document all issues/recommendations identified in the FYR report.

Protectiveness Statement(s)

Include each individual OU protectiveness determination and statement. If you need to add more protectiveness determinations and statements for additional OUs, copy and paste the table below as many times as necessary to complete for each OU evaluated in the FYR report.

<i>Operable Unit:</i> 01	<i>Protectiveness Determination:</i> Short-term Protective	<i>Addendum Due Date (if applicable):</i> Click here to enter date.
<i>Protectiveness Statement:</i> The remedy currently protects human health and the environment because contaminated soils and Pond A sediments have been excavated and disposed of off Site, the pump and treat system is addressing contaminated groundwater, the ICs have been implemented at the Site, and the State and County ordinances prevent groundwater consumption. In order to be protective in the long-term, the full extent of the groundwater contaminant plume in the shallow plume should be delineated.		

Comment [MSOffice6]: See above

**Liberty Industrial Finishing Superfund Site
Farmingdale, New York
Five-Year Review Report**

I. Introduction

This first five-year review was conducted pursuant to Section 121 (c) of the Comprehensive Environmental Response, Compensation and Liability Act of 1980 as amended (CERCLA), Section 300.430(f)(4)(ii) of the National Oil and Hazardous Substances Pollution Contingency Plan (NCP) and in accordance with the *Comprehensive Five-Year Review Guidance, OSWER Directive 9355.7-03B-P* (June 2001). The purpose of a five-year review is to assure that implemented remedies protect public health and the environment and function as intended by the decision documents. This document will become part of the Site file.

This five-year review of the remedy for the Liberty Industrial Finishing Superfund site (Site), located in Farmingdale, Nassau County, New York was performed by the Remedial Project Manager (RPM) for the Site. This is the first statutory five-year review for the Site, triggered by the initiation of the first remedial action at the Site, namely, pond sediments remedial action, on September 27, 2007.

The comprehensive remedy selected in the 2002 Record of Decision (ROD) required excavation and off-Site disposal of 73,100 cubic yards (CY) of contaminated soils, removal of contaminated aqueous and/or solid materials from underground storage tanks and subsurface features, construction and operation of a conventional pump-and-treat system to address on-Site (i.e., on-property) and off-Site (i.e., off-property) groundwater contamination (designated as Plume A which is attributed to the Site), and excavation and off-Site disposal of 2,600 CY of contaminated pond sediments at the Massapequa Preserve. The comprehensive remedial action also calls for and includes construction and operation of an on-property conventional pump-and-treat system to address groundwater underlying the Site property, designated as Plume B, which originates to the north of the Site and migrates in a southerly direction before commingling with a portion of Plume A. Plume B is being addressed by the state of New York and has not been constructed. A change to the remedy documenting the transfer of Plume B responsibility of New York is out for public comment. Therefore, the 2002 Plume B remedy will not be evaluated in this five-year review.

II. Site Chronology

Table 1 summarizes the events from EPA's first response actions at the Site to this first five-year review.

III. Background

Site Location and Description

The Site is located approximately one mile south of Bethpage State Park in Farmingdale, Town of Oyster Bay, Nassau County, New York. The Site includes a 30-acre property located at 55 Motor Avenue (see **Figure 1**). The property is bordered by the Long Island Railroad to the north, Motor Avenue to the south, Main Street to the east and a small town park, Ellsworth Allen Park, to the west. The surrounding area is primarily residential with several commercial establishments on the major roads.

The Site includes a former aircraft parts manufacturing and metal-finishing facility that began its

Comment [MSOffice7]: I suggest restating the sentence so that it is clear that NYSDEC is taking the lead on the Plume B investigation, and clarify that a remedial action has not been initiated (not constructed).

Comment [MSOffice8]: Is it a change to the remedy or just the ROD?

Comment [MSOffice9]: Suggest including the public comment period for this change – is it the ESD described earlier?

operation in the early 1930's. From 1940 to 1944, the federal government and private corporate interests utilized the Site to develop and maintain production of materials needed for World War II. From 1944 through 1957, aircraft-related manufacturing activities predominated at the Site. Starting about 1957 through the 1980's, the facility operated as an industrial park and was used for various operations, including metal plating and finishing and fiberglass product manufacturing. Since the 1980's, the Site has been used for light manufacturing and warehousing.

The 30-acre Liberty Industrial Finishing site property can be divided into three parcels, 15-acre Western Parcel (Tax Lot 327), 7.5-acre Central Parcel (Tax Lot 331), and 7.5-acre Eastern Parcel (Tax Lot 332). The Town of Oyster Bay (TOB) acquired the 15-acre Western Parcel and 7.5-acre Central Parcel in September 2003 and July 2010, respectively, to expand adjacent Ellsworth Allen Recreational Park for future park development and construction. Site operations on the Western Parcel and Central Parcel have ceased; however, the groundwater treatment system is located in the southwestern portion of the Western Parcel. The Eastern Parcel has been redeveloped and is paved over with a large-scale grocery/retail store and adjacent parking lot that was completed in May 2010.

Geology/Hydrogeology

The Site is situated on the glacial outwash plain of Long Island. The regional geology consists of the following units from surface to depth: Upper Glacial Aquifer, Port Washington confining unit, Port Washington Aquifer, Magothy Aquifer, Raritan Clay, and Lloyd Aquifer. The surficial unit, Upper Glacial, is estimated to be 85 feet thick beneath the Site. The depth to the water table fluctuates between 15 and 21 feet below ground surface (bgs), but principally occurs at approximately 21 feet bgs. The saturated portion of the Upper Glacial Aquifer, with a thickness of 64 feet, begins at the water table and extends down to 85 feet bgs. The Upper Glacial Aquifer is underlain by the Magothy aquifer which is approximately 700 feet thick in the vicinity of the Site.

Groundwater flow within the Upper Glacial Aquifer was determined to be predominantly horizontal and in the south-southwesterly direction; the horizontal flow velocity in the Upper Glacial Aquifer was estimated to be about 1.6 feet/day. The direction of the horizontal component of groundwater flow within the Magothy aquifer is also in the south-southwesterly direction, with a slight south-southeasterly component north of the Farmingdale High School; the horizontal flow velocity in the Magothy aquifer was estimated to be about 0.17 feet/day. In addition, vertical hydraulic gradients exist between the Upper Glacial and the Magothy aquifers. In general, the vertical gradient is downward, from the Upper Glacial to the Magothy aquifers, except in the spring months when upward gradients has been observed in the southern portions of the off-Site areas. The actual flow between the aquifers is mainly dependent on the vertical hydraulic connectivity between the two formations. The hydraulic connection of the Upper Glacial to the Magothy aquifer is believed to be limited in the Site vicinity, because a low-permeability layer is present between the Upper Glacial and the Magothy aquifers throughout much of the on-Site and Off-site areas.

Groundwater aquifers underlying the Site are classified as Class GA pursuant to 6 New York Codes, Rules and Regulations Parts 700-705 (6 NYCRR Parts 700-705, reissued July 1995). The Class GA standards apply to any fresh groundwater which may be a source of potable water supply. Similarly, the groundwater aquifers are classified as Class IIA by EPA in that the aquifers are current or potential sources of drinking water.

Land and Resource Use

Comment [MSOffice10]: The figure 4 provided in the attachments only describes two: western and eastern. Is there a figure locating the 3 separate parcels that can be referenced here?

The Site property was zoned for industrial use from the 1920's until the mid-1980's, since which time it was used for light industrial activities. In September 2011, the TOB rezoned the Western Parcel and Central Parcel from "Light Industrial" to "Recreational" for future park development and construction. The Eastern Parcel continues to be zoned for "Light Industrial" but in grocery/retail commercial business. The surrounding area of the Site property is primarily residential with several commercial establishments on the major roads. Approximately ten schools, both primary and secondary, are located within 1.5 miles of the Site.

There are no private drinking wells in the vicinity of the Site. People living near the Site obtain their drinking water from local water utilities; the water utilities routinely test their supplies to ensure compliance with State and federal drinking water standards. In 1998, the Potentially Responsible Parties (PRPs) installed "sentinel" wells, under EPA oversight, between the Site property and public drinking water wells of the local water districts. These sentinel wells serve as an early warning system should any plume of contamination migrate close to the well fields. Periodic monitoring of the sentinel wells, since 1998, by the local water districts, has not detected any Site-related contamination.

History of Contamination

Materials used in historic Site operations included Volatile Organic Compounds (VOCs) such as cis-1,2-dichloroethene (cis-1,2-DCE), trichloroethene (TCE), and tetrachloroethene (PCE); inorganic compounds containing cadmium, chromium, and cyanide; as well as other materials such as caustics and acids. Throughout most of the period of industrial operation, wastes containing these materials were discharged untreated into below-grade sumps, underground leaching chambers, and unlined, in-ground wastewater disposal basins.

A groundwater plume contaminated with organic and inorganic substances, which originated from on-Site industrial activities, underlies the former industrial area and extends approximately a mile in a southwesterly direction (designated as Plume A). A portion of the Massapequa Preserve, a nature preserve located about half mile to the south, was also contaminated from the on-Site activities and has been addressed as part of the Superfund cleanup. A separate plume of organic contamination, designated as Plume B, which is believed to originate from the Farmingdale Cleaners and its vicinity to the north of the Site, migrates in a southerly direction before commingling with a portion of Plume A (see **Figure 2**). The purple-colored blip or island at the southern end of Plume A in the Upper Glacial Aquifer and to the west of the Farmingdale High School is where Plume B reappears also in the Upper Glacial Aquifer, after disappearing after the middle part of Plume A or south of Woodward Parkway elementary school. This indicates that the leading edge of Plume B contains higher PCE from a spill or an upgradient source with lower concentrations of PCE trailing behind. This leading edge of Plume B, however, dissipates before the Southern State Parkway and the lower PCE concentration trailing part of the Plume B dissipates upon reaching the Woodward Parkway elementary school. This phenomenon is likely due to natural attenuation consisting of dechlorination, dispersion, dilution, and degradation of PCE. In the Magothy aquifer, presence of both PCE and TCE appears to end at the Woodward Parkway elementary school.

Initial Responses

In the 1980's, NYSDEC was the lead agency for the Site and directed the early Site investigation and early cleanup activities. In 1978 and 1987, under administrative orders issued by NYSDEC, several of the PRPs at the Site removed contaminated soil and sludge from industrial waste disposal basins.

The Site was placed on the National Priorities List on June 10, 1986.

In 1990, EPA assumed the role of the lead governmental agency for environmental investigation and remediation of the Site. Between 1991 and 1997, EPA conducted a Remedial Investigation (RI) to define the nature and extent of contamination and a Feasibility Study (FS) to identify alternatives to address contamination. Additional investigatory activities were carried out by several of the PRPs at the Site under EPA oversight pursuant to an administrative order issued by EPA in 1997.

EPA conducted a Removal Site Evaluation at the Site during late 1993 and early 1994, and determined that electrical transformer areas contaminated with polychlorinated biphenyls (PCBs), wastes contained in underground storage tanks, and drums located at the Site posed an immediate risk to trespassers. At EPA's request, a number of PRPs agreed to remove these materials and transport them to appropriate facilities for treatment and disposal. This removal action, which eliminated significant current-use risks associated with the Site, was completed in April 1996.

On March 31, 1998, EPA issued an Action Memorandum selecting a non-time-critical removal action as an interim response action at the Site, the objective of which was to prevent contaminated groundwater from migrating beyond the boundary of the Liberty property until the comprehensive soil and groundwater remedy could be implemented. This work was initially implemented starting in 1998 by PRPs pursuant to an EPA administrative order and has, since August 2004, been continued by the PRPs pursuant to a Consent Judgment. After design and testing, in January 2001 the PRPs constructed separate treatment systems to address both the organic and inorganic contamination in the groundwater. However, various operational problems initially prevented the interim groundwater treatment system from continuous operation and effective treatment of groundwater contamination. As a result, in January 2002, EPA directed the PRPs to begin the process of converting the on-property system for Plume A into a conventional pump and treat system. Since the conversion in June 2004, the existing on-property groundwater remediation system has been operating at its full design capacity in effectively treating both organic and inorganic contamination.

EPA also issued an order pursuant to Section 16 (a) of the Toxic Substances Control Act in late 1999 requiring the owners of the Site to remove approximately 1.5 million pounds of PCB-contaminated shredded auto-fluff that had been stored at the Site.

In April 2001, EPA released a Supplemental RI/FS report which described the nature and extent of contamination in Site soils and groundwater, in pond sediments in Massapequa Creek downstream of the Site, and in Plume B. The Supplemental RI/FS also evaluated alternatives for comprehensive Site cleanup. The Supplemental RI sampling data revealed that two distinct plumes exist beneath the property. Plume A originates on the western portion of the Liberty property, while Plume B originates hydrogeologically upgradient of the Site, east of Plume A. Plume A is characterized by TCE concentrations (including degradation products such as cis-1,2-DCE). There is no significant PCE concentration in Plume A. Plume A is also characterized by chromium and cadmium contamination. Plume B is characterized by PCE concentrations (including its degradation products).

On March 2002, prior to the issuance of the 2002 ROD, EPA issued an administrative order to the owners of the property at the Site requiring them to perform a removal action to address below ground features on the easternmost ten-acre portion of the Site. These features include sumps, vaults, drains, pipes, underground leaching chambers, underground storage tanks as well as a sanitary leaching field. The order also required the property owners to remove a mound of contaminated soil located on the western portion of the Site. Pursuant to this March 2002 administrative order, the soil mound was removed in March 2003, and the work to address the underground features began in July of 2004 and was completed in December 2008.

Basis for Taking Action

Soils

The Initial RI and the Supplemental RI confirmed several significant on-property source areas including the former Wastewater Disposal Basins, the former Building B Basement area, the former Building B Ramp Pile, and the Northwest Disposal Area (see **Figure 3**).

Sampling conducted during the Initial RI focused on the western site soils. Results indicated that the majority of contaminated soils at the site were contaminated with metals, primarily cadmium and chromium. The sampling results also indicated that certain soils were also contaminated with VOCs. The Initial RI sampling did not fully characterize the extent of soil contamination. Therefore, a comprehensive soil sampling program was conducted in the western portion and part of eastern portion of the site as part of the Supplemental RI to fully delineate the horizontal and vertical extent of contamination. Using a grid layout approach, 92 soil borings were completed to 20 feet bgs with samples collected at five-foot intervals, beginning with the collection of a surficial sample. Leachability testing was also conducted to derive soil cleanup levels for cadmium and chromium that would be protective of the underlying groundwater aquifers. These levels were established at concentrations of 10 milligrams/kilogram (mg/kg) of cadmium and 143 mg/kg of chromium, which are more restrictive than the health-based levels that EPA typically uses for contact under a residential use exposure scenario. Based on NYSDEC's Technical and Administrative Memorandum (TAGM), the following soil cleanup objectives were adopted for VOC contaminants: 0.7 mg/kg of TCE, 0.25 mg/kg of cis-1,2-DCE, and 1.4 mg/kg of PCE.

Inorganic sampling results indicate that the former Wastewater Disposal Basins, the former Building B Basement area, the Northwest Disposal Area, and the former Building B Ramp Pile represent the major on-property source areas with cadmium and chromium concentrations in excess of their respective soil cleanup levels; outside these source areas, cadmium and chromium were also detected, in scattered locations, in concentrations above their respective soil cleanup levels. Also, analytical sampling results using the Toxicity Characteristic Leaching Procedure (TCLP) established that soils in the Northwest Disposal Area, the former Building B Basement area, and the former Building B Ramp Pile were hazardous wastes as defined by the Resource Conservation and Recovery Act (RCRA).

VOC contamination was detected in a very few soil samples. TCE was detected above soil cleanup objectives in samples collected within the vicinity of the former Building B Basement, with concentrations as high as 5.09 mg/kg. Only two other soil samples (collected from locations immediately south of the former Wastewater Disposal Basins and near the northwest corner of former Building N) had VOC concentrations above soil cleanup objectives with TCE concentrations of 1.17 and 0.78 mg/kg, respectively. Also, it was found that the VOCs are, in general, co-located with soils that also have cadmium and chromium concentrations above their respective soil cleanup levels.

Soil sampling results demonstrated that approximately 95% of the contaminated soils that exceeded above-mentioned soil cleanup levels were located on the western 15-acre portion of the Site property (e.g., the former Wastewater Disposal Basins, the former Building B Ramp Pile, and the Northwest Disposal Area); the balance of the soil contamination was situated on the eastern 15-acre portion of the Site (e.g., the Building B Basement area and the Building G floor drain).

Subsurface Features, Underground Storage Tank (UST) and Storm Drain Investigations

As part of the Supplemental RI, various subsurface features, underground storage tanks and the

County storm drain on Motor Avenue in front of the Liberty Industrial property were investigated.

The subsurface feature investigation and sampling program was undertaken to identify the contents of various sumps, vaults, drains, or other on-site subsurface containment features that are located on the eastern portion of the site and to determine whether any of these features represents continuing sources of groundwater contamination. Sampling results indicated that the features did not represent significant sources of VOC or metals contamination to groundwater. However, the results did identify two semivolatile organic compounds (SVOCs), namely, benzo[a]pyrene and dibenz[a,h]anthracene, in concentrations as high as 0.041 milligrams/liter (mg/l) and 0.007 mg/l, respectively, in several of the subsurface features. These SVOCs do not present a potential threat to groundwater due to their limited mobility and low concentrations within the concrete subsurface features but would present a risk to future site workers who may come in contact with these substances.

The UST investigation was conducted to evaluate suspected locations of five tanks to determine if the tanks contained hazardous liquids such as waste solvents or PCB-bearing waste oils. Two of the five tanks were not deemed to be of concern. The remaining three tanks could not be accessed due to safety considerations and inaccessibility, but they were investigated and remediated as part of the soil and subsurface feature remedial action.

Historic plans indicated that the on-site storm drainage system was connected to the County storm sewer system which discharges into the headwaters of Massapequa Creek near Spielman and Roberts Street. To determine if site-related contamination was present within the storm sewer, soil/sludge residuals were sampled by accessing five manholes along the north side of Motor Avenue. Site-related VOCs were not detected in any of the five samples and cadmium and chromium were detected at concentrations below their respective soil cleanup levels.

Groundwater

An extensive groundwater investigation has been conducted to evaluate the nature and extent of groundwater contamination, in particular Plume A, in both the Upper Glacial and the Magothy aquifers. RI sampling results indicate that two distinct plumes, Plume A and Plume B, exist beneath the property. As stated above, Plume A originates on the western portion of the Liberty property, while Plume B originates upgradient of the Site, northeast of Plume A. Plume A is characterized by TCE concentrations (including degradation products such as cis-1,2-DCE) coming mainly from the former Building B Basement area and the former Wastewater Disposal Basins and extending south-southwest (generally west of Woodward Parkway). There is no significant PCE concentration in Plume A. Plume A is also characterized by chromium and cadmium contamination. Plume B is characterized by PCE concentrations (including degradation products) and extends across the Site toward the south-southwest (generally east of Woodward Parkway). Unlike Plume A, Plume B is not characterized by chromium and cadmium contamination.

Sediment

The Initial RI revealed that the Liberty groundwater contaminant plume within the Upper Glacial Aquifer discharges into Massapequa Creek north of Pond A. The County storm sewer system, to which the on-site storm drainage system is connected, also discharges into the headwaters of Massapequa Creek. The six ponds (Ponds A, 1, 2, 3, 4, and 5, from upstream to downstream) located along the Massapequa Creek corridor are about 1 to 4 feet deep and were constructed to control localized flooding and silting of the streambed (see **Figure 4**). The conceptual model of site contamination based upon the RI indicates that these ponds serve as detention basins for runoff and associated sediments entering the creek from the watershed. Pond A, being

located furthest upstream and closest to the Site property, therefore has the greatest potential to be affected by contaminated groundwater discharge from the Site property. This information indicated the need to expand the limited investigation of the Massapequa Creek that was initially conducted during the RI.

The objective of the Supplemental RI was to further define the extent of groundwater discharge, and to evaluate potential ecological effects in an ecological risk assessment.

Comment [MSOffice11]: Groundwater plume?

Water samples were collected from 13 locations within the Massapequa Creek system and analyzed for VOCs and cadmium, chromium and lead. The samples were collected between the eastern branch headwaters of Massapequa Creek and just south of Pond 2. Results indicated only trace concentrations of VOCs in the surface water samples, none above the NYSDEC chronic ambient water quality standards (AWQS). Cadmium was detected above the NYSDEC chronic AWQS between Pond A and Pond 1 and above the NYSDEC acute AWQS upstream of Pond A; cadmium concentrations to the south of Pond 1 were either nondetectable or below the AWQS. Total chromium concentrations were below the NYSDEC AWQS throughout the study area. These results are compatible with overall characteristics of shallow groundwater discharge into the Massapequa Creek.

Five rounds of stream sediment and pond sediment sampling were conducted, though not all locations were sampled in each round. Metal concentrations in stream sediments were lower (by about two orders of magnitude) than the metals concentrations in pond sediments. The metals data were compared to NYSDEC guidance values used to screen contaminated sediments for possible adverse ecological impacts. Cadmium concentrations, which exceeded the NYSDEC Severe Effect Level (SEL) sediment screening guideline (9 mg/kg) in all ponds except the reference pond (Mill Pond), were highest in Pond A and Pond 1. Chromium concentrations also exceeded the NYSDEC SEL sediment screening guideline (110 mg/kg) in all ponds except the reference pond; chromium concentrations were highest in Pond A, Pond 1, and Pond 4.

Comment [MSOffice12]: No section for the soil vapor intrusion evaluation conducted?

Risk Assessment Results

For the western portion, in the Baseline Human Health Risk Assessment (BHRA), the only receptor whose noncarcinogenic hazard exceeds EPA's benchmark value of an Hazard Index (HI) of 1 is the commercial/industrial worker, exposed to contaminants in the Upper Glacial groundwater and evaluated under a future use scenario, with an HI of 8.9. This exposure currently does not occur, since groundwater is not used as a drinking water source at the Site. The primary contributors to this HI are cadmium (Hazard Quotient (HQ) of 7.5) and chromium (HQ of 1.4). None of the cancer risks estimated for the western portion exceed EPA's target risk range. A subsequent HHRA Addendum determined that there is an unacceptable noncancer risk to certain recreational users.

Comment [MSOffice13]: Can there be an introductory sentence that clarifies the risk assessment was made based upon the RI data and may not reflect current conditions, where remediation has been implemented? This would clarify the difference between the Risk Assessment in the RIR and the RA language in a 5 YR.

For the eastern portion, the receptor whose cumulative risk exceeds one-in-a-million excess cancer risk is the future construction worker (1×10^3), which is greater than the upper boundary of the acceptable cancer risk range. For the future construction worker, the primary contributing medium and route is dermal exposure to aqueous waste, with benzo(a)pyrene and dibenzo(a,h)anthracene as the primary contributors to the cumulative risk. Dermal protection during handling of aqueous wastes would significantly reduce potential exposure and risks for this receptor. The only receptor whose cumulative hazard index exceeds 1.0 is the future construction worker (31). The primary contributor to the hazard index is dermal exposure to aqueous wastes, with chromium (HQ of 1.5) and a PCB (Aroclor 1260 with an HQ of 31) being the primary contaminants of concern.

Comment [MSOffice14]: Date of addendum? Is this in a separate document from the baseline HHRA, if so, please note.

Comment [MSOffice15]: Could this be defined as the western portion is to be reused for recreational purposes?

For the off-property residential areas, the receptors whose cumulative cancer risks exceed EPA's target cancer risk are current and future off-property residents. The current off-property resident's

Comment [MSOffice16]: This section has since been paved with asphalt and a building constructed – can there be a sentence discussing the unlikelihood of exposure due to current site conditions preventing contact?

cumulative cancer risk from exposure to the Upper Glacial groundwater is 1.9×10^3 , which is driven by vinyl chloride and 1,1-DCE (two degradation products of TCE). The evaluation of noncarcinogenic effects shows that the hazards to the off-Site child resident are 95 (HI values for cadmium of 35, for chromium of 8.7, and for manganese of 50), and the off-Site adult resident are 26 (HI values of 8.4 for cadmium, 6.1 for chromium, and 11 for manganese). Under a future use scenario, the risks to the child and adult residents from exposure to the Magothy groundwater are 4.5×10^4 , with vinyl chloride and 1,1-DCE as the most significant contributors to the risk. The noncarcinogenic hazards to the off-Site residents using the Magothy groundwater are 6.8 for the child resident, with chromium (HQ of 1.7) and manganese (HQ of 3.2) as the primary chemicals of concern. The HI for the adult resident is less than EPA's acceptable level. It is noted, however, that these scenarios are hypothetical as the groundwater in the vicinity of the Site is not used for public drinking water supply.

Comment [MSOffice17]: Has this been updated to include the SVI exposure pathway? Data has also shown that there is no exposure via this route either.

For the Massapequa Preserve, all carcinogenic risks estimated for surface water, sediment, and fish tissue are within EPA's acceptable risk range for all populations. Noncarcinogenic HI values for surface water and fish tissue for all populations and for adults exposed to sediment are less than EPA's benchmark of an HI value of 1. The HI value for children exposed to sediment slightly exceeds the benchmark (HI of 1.1), although no HQ values for an individual chemical exceeds 1.

Finally, several locations were identified as potential areas of concern for chromium. Dermal exposure to chromium may result in allergic responses in certain sensitive individuals, which is called "contact dermatitis." The areas of concern are the western portion surface samples in the northwest disposal area and the southern portion of the disposal basins; the western portion subsurface soil in and near the disposal basins, northwest disposal area and the ramp excavation pile on the Building N foundation (or former Building B Ramp Pile); and the eastern portion subsurface soil in the Building B basement. Potential effects from exposure to chromium in these areas can be managed and reduced by following the appropriate measures as outlined in the health and safety plan, including wearing gloves and other personal protection equipment and limiting exposure to the contaminated materials.

Comment [MSOffice18]: I suggest referring to Figure 3 so the reader can see where these areas are located. The first reference to this area was awhile ago.

Based on the weight-of-evidence from the cumulative Massapequa Creek investigatory results from sediment toxicity analyses, fish tissue analyses, and macroinvertebrate analyses, it was concluded that Pond A poses potential risks to ecological receptors that include benthic invertebrates and fish. In the sediment toxicity analyses, the concentration below which toxicity to two standard benthic invertebrates was not reported was 55.4 mg/kg cadmium and 268 mg/kg chromium. Therefore, a conservative risk-based criteria of 50 mg/kg cadmium and 260 mg/kg chromium were established as sediment cleanup levels for the remediation of Pond A sediments.

Comment [MSOffice19]: What is the status of the remediation in these areas? Can they be referred to or summarized here if the exposure has been mitigated? This is in the area of the new recreational area.

IV. Site-wide Remedial Actions

Remedy Selection

In July 2001, EPA released a Proposed Plan that outlined the Agency's preferred long-term comprehensive remedy for the Site.

Following the issuance of the Proposed Plan in July 2001, the Town announced its intention to acquire the Western Parcel for expansion of the adjacent Ellsworth Allen Park for community recreational activities. In October 2002, EPA entered into a prospective purchaser agreement with the Town, which released the Town from Superfund liability in contemplation of their future ownership and which would discharge existing and prospective Superfund liens against the parkland in exchange for a substantial payment of money from the Town to EPA which would be used for cleanup activities or reimbursement of EPA costs at the Site. In September

2003, the Town acquired the Western Parcel from the owners via condemnation. Now that the soils and subsurface features cleanup selected in the 2002 ROD have been completed, the Town will construct the recreational facilities and establish the new community park.

Comment [MSOffice20]: I suggest adding in that the soils now meet the NYSDEC's Part 375 SCOs for Restricted Residential land use.

Prior to the Town's announced plans for the additional parkland, EPA had assumed, for purposes of remedy selection, that the Site would continue to be used for commercial or industrial purposes. The newly planned parkland use, and other considerations including widespread support by community members and their elected representatives, caused EPA to re-evaluate the soils remedy. EPA's selected soil remedy included an expanded soil excavation for the Liberty Industrial Finishing site at an estimated additional cost of more than \$4 million dollars.

In 2002, EPA selected a remedy for the site. The Record of Decision included the following remedial action objectives (RAOs):

On-Site Soils

- Prevent the direct exposure of receptors to Site-related contaminants through inhalation, direct contact or ingestion, or mitigate soil contaminant concentrations to a level that will not pose unacceptable risks to human health and the environment.
- Reduce the concentration or mobility of soil contaminants to a level which will prevent further degradation of groundwater.
- Remove all RCRA hazardous waste from the Site.
- Remove any structural impediments that might interfere with pre-design sampling and implementation of soil, subsurface feature, and groundwater remediation.

On-Site Subsurface Features (on Eastern Portion of the Site) and Underground Storage Tanks

- Removal of contaminated aqueous and/or solid materials from subsurface features and underground storage tanks.

On-Site and Off-Site Groundwater

- Prevent or minimize ingestion, dermal contact and inhalation of inorganic- and organic-contaminated groundwater that are above State and Federal maximum contaminant levels (MCLs).
- Restore groundwater quality to levels which meet State and Federal MCLs.

Massapequa Creek Pond A Sediments

- Prevent adverse effects to ecological receptors within the Massapequa Creek and associated ponds caused by exposure to Site related contaminants.

In order to achieve these RAOs, EPA selected the following remedial action components as described in the 2002 ROD:

On-Site Soils

- Excavation and off-Site disposal of all soils contaminated above groundwater protection levels, estimated at 73,100 CY.
- ICs to restrict the use of the Site to commercial/industrial or, where applicable, to recreational uses.

On-Site Subsurface Features (on Eastern Portion of the Site) and Underground Storage Tanks

- Removal of contaminated aqueous and/or solid materials from underground storage tanks and other subsurface features (structures).

On-Site and Off-Site Groundwater

- Continued operation of the ongoing interim groundwater treatment system that is being converted to a conventional pump-and-treat system to address the groundwater underlying the Site property contaminated by previous operations at the Site.
- Continuation of the interim groundwater action by construction and operation of a conventional pump-and-treat system to address groundwater underlying the Site property which is believed to have been contaminated by an upgradient source.
- Construction and operation of a conventional pump-and-treat system to treat off-property groundwater contamination.
- Implementation of a groundwater monitoring program.
- ICs to prohibit installation or use of groundwater wells for human consumption.

Comment [MSOffice21]: Without treatment? Or until groundwater standards are met?

Massapequa Creek Pond A Sediments

- Excavation and off-Site disposal of approximately 2,600 CY of contaminated sediments within Pond A of the Massapequa Preserve.
- Implementation of a monitoring program for the remainder of the ponds within the Massapequa Preserve.

The remedial work at the Site is summarized below.

Remedy Implementation

The remedial activities were undertaken in accordance with the September 30, 2003 Remedial Design/Remedial Action (RD/RA) Consent Judgment, and attached Statement of Work thereto, that was entered in the United States District Court for the Eastern District of New York on August 27, 2004.

On-Site Soils (Remedial Work Element I) and Subsurface Features and Underground Storage Tanks (Remedial Work Element II)

The remedial activities for on-Site soils and subsurface features and underground storage tanks were initiated in March 2007 and were completed in May 2011. The objectives of the work performed were to:

- Excavate and dispose offsite all soils impacted above the Site specific groundwater protection standards of 10 mg/kg for cadmium and 143 mg/kg for chromium.
- Remove impacted aqueous and/or solid materials from three USTs and fifty-six subsurface features, as well as the northern and eastern leaching chamber fields, if warranted. Eighteen USTs and eighteen subsurface features were to be removed pursuant to September 30, 2003 RD/RA Consent Judgment. The remaining USTs and subsurface features were addressed in accordance with a March 21, 2002 Administrative Order on Consent (AOC) for Removal Action for Phase I Demolition Area. **Figure 5** shows the Phase I Demolition Area/Stop & Shop Parcel, which is also the Eastern Parcel, where subsurface features were remediated under the March 21, 2002 AOC, as well as subsurface features on the Western Parcel and Central Parcel.
- Remove and dispose offsite soil surrounding the subsurface features that exceed the

following site specific soil Performance Standards:

- 10 mg/kg for cadmium;
- 143 mg/kg for chromium;
- 0.7 mg/kg for TCE;
- 0.25 mg/kg for cis-1,2-DCE;
- 1.4 mg/kg for PCE;
- 0.29 mg/kg for Benzo(a)pyrene;
- 0.29 mg/kg for Dibenz(a,h)anthracene;
- 35 mg/kg for Cyanide
- 1 mg/kg for PCBs between 0 and 1-foot below ground surface;
- 10 mg/kg for PCBs 1-foot or more below ground surface.

Final construction inspection was conducted on September 7, 2010.

Based on total waste volume disposal log, 57,967 tons of non-hazardous soils, 24,897 tons of hazardous soils, 436 tons of construction and demolition materials, 2,098 tons of mixed soil and Debris, 880 CY of wood chips, 15.8 tons of scrap metal, 17,704 gallons of oil, 177 tons of asphalt, and 5,899 tons of concrete were removed from the Site in the performance of Remedial Work Elements I and II. A total of 125 subsurface features and 15 USTs were remediated and removed pursuant to the September 30, 2003 RD/RA Consent Judgment and the March 21, 2002 AOC, in the performance of Remedial Work Element II.

On-Site and Off-Site Groundwater (Remedial Work Element III)

Construction activities for Remedial Element III were performed at the Site property, as well as at off-property locations, including the Massapequa Preserve, various TOB and Nassau County rights-of-way (ROWs) and the Woodward Parkway Elementary School located at 95 Woodward Parkway, Farmingdale, New York (see **Figure 6**). **Table 2** provides a chronological summary of major events for the Groundwater Remediation System (GRS) upgrades for Remedial Work Element III. The on-property GRS extracts water from the Upper Glacial Aquifer. The off-property GRS includes recovery wells screened in both the Upper Glacial and Magothy aquifers, with the deepest Magothy well set to approximately 185 feet below grade, which is shallower than public water supply wells within the TOB. The GRS operates on a continuous basis, 24 hours per day. **Table 3** provides the design flow rate for each on and off-property recovery well. Extracted groundwater is piped from either on- or off-property recovery well locations into the on-property GRS building where it is processed first through a filtration unit (5 to 10 microns) and then through a pair of granulated activated carbon (GAC) vessels prior to discharge as treated effluent.

Discharge permits exist for both sewer discharge (350 gpm) and State Pollutant Discharge Elimination System (SPDES) discharge (100 gpm) through an on-site ground water infiltration gallery. Magothy recovery wells (RW-8, RW-9, and RW-10) primarily discharge to the on-property infiltration gallery. The remaining recovery wells (all Upper Glacial recovery wells) discharge primarily to the sewer system. A portion of the Upper Glacial flow from wells RW-4, RW-5, and RW-6 (also called mid-field wells) is blended into the infiltration gallery discharge in order to maximize treated groundwater discharge to the gallery, while still meeting permitted discharge limitations. Overall, from October 2002 through June 2011, the GRS extracted a total volume of 525.6 million gallons. The approximate mass of contaminants recovered from groundwater sources from October 2002 through June 2011 includes 17.3 pounds of TCE, 373 pounds of cadmium, and 1,285 pounds of chromium.

The GRS startup and testing occurred from January 18, 2010 until February 2, 2010. During this period, all system equipment was tested and configured to achieve the performance criteria specified in the RD (e.g., design flow rates, operating pressures, effluent contaminant

concentrations). The integrated control system was tested to demonstrate its ability to perform specified functions, including initiating and performing backwash cycles, duty cycling of the GAC vessels, and initiating various alarms. After the startup and testing period, the system was operated at full capacity for a 5-day, 24-hour-per-day shakedown period. During the shakedown, the system was operated in the full auto mode and performed for the entire 5-day period without any manual adjustments. At the conclusion of the successful 5-day shakedown, the GRS was considered Operational & Functional (O&F) and transferred to the Operation and Maintenance (O&M) phase. Post-construction O&M of the upgraded GRS has been performed by the PRPs in accordance with the Operation, Maintenance, and Monitoring Plan (OMMP), issued with the February 2008 Final 100% Groundwater RD Report and the O&M plans prepared by the PRPs' contractors. These plans discuss general O&M activities, including system monitoring and discharge sampling as well as detailed O&M for each operable piece of equipment in the system. They also discuss Site-wide groundwater monitoring until restoration of the aquifer is complete.

EPA's Final construction inspection was conducted on September 7, 2010, subsequent to which September 2010 Groundwater Remedial Action Report was submitted to EPA. Based on EPA and NYSDEC's review of the September 2010 Groundwater Remedial Action Report, a determination was made that the on-property and off-property pump and treat system is O&F, consistent with EPA's May 2011 Close Out Procedures for National Priorities List Sites (OSWER Directive 9320.2-22).

Plume B

The 2002 ROD included a separate conventional pump-and-treat system to address Plume B, which originates to the north (upgradient) of the Site and which underlies the Site property. In December 2002, NYSDEC listed the "Farmingdale Plaza Cleaners" site (NYSDEC Site I.D. No. 130107) on its Registry of Inactive Hazardous Waste Disposal Sites in New York State. The Farmingdale Plaza Cleaners site is located approximately 1,000 feet to the north (upgradient) of the Site (see **Figure 7**) and is suspected to be the source of Plume B. NYSDEC has been investigating the Farmingdale Plaza Cleaners site with resources from the New York State Hazardous Waste Remedial Fund. NYSDEC is currently performing an RI/FS for the Farmingdale Plaza Cleaners site (Plume B RI/FS). In March 2009, NYSDEC formally requested that EPA give NYSDEC the lead agency role to address Plume B, including any Plume B remediation, as part of its response action at the Farmingdale Plaza Cleaners site. EPA agreed to this request.

NYSDEC completed the first phase of the Plume B RI in June 2009. Based on the Phase 1 Plume B RI results, NYSDEC concluded, and EPA concurred, that another round of Plume B groundwater investigation (Phase 2) is warranted to fully delineate Plume B, in particular, the portion of Plume B that is downgradient of the Site property. Phase 2 Plume B RI investigation commenced in July 2011 and was completed in October 2011. Plume B RI/FS reports are expected to be completed by Spring of 2012. Upon completion of the Plume B RI/FS reports, NYSDEC will prepare a Plume B ROD selecting a Plume B remedy, which is projected for completion early Summer of 2012.

With the construction and operation of on-property and off-property Plume A pump-and-treat systems, human health risks from Site-related contamination are controlled. The removal of potential sources (i.e., contaminated Site soils) has further reduced the migration of contaminants from the Site. Over the last several years, EPA and NYSDEC have performed extensive monitoring of Plume B and also conducted investigations to evaluate the nature and extent of Plume B contamination. The most recent groundwater sampling data show that the Plume B levels beneath the Site property have significantly declined to near drinking water standards. Based on the recent groundwater sampling data, EPA and NYSDEC have now determined that the on-property Plume B pump-and-treat system is no longer necessary. Instead, EPA believes,

as described above, that Plume B, including any off-property Plume B remediation, will be best addressed by NYSDEC as part of its response action at the Farmingdale Plaza Cleaners site. Analysis of Plume B monitoring data to date indicates that natural attenuation and physical processes are contributing to the apparent, significant decline in PCE concentration within Plume B.

As part of the response action at the Farmingdale Plaza Cleaners site, NYSDEC has also implemented a soil vapor extraction (SVE) treatment system as an Interim Action to address the source of Plume B. The SVE construction commenced in June 2011 and was completed in December 2011, and is currently operating. The SVE system is anticipated to remediate any residual soil contamination that could otherwise continue to contribute to Plume B groundwater contamination. This additional source removal anticipated with NYSDEC's SVE system operation, coupled with treatment of significant portion of Plume B by on-property and off-Site Plume A pump-and-treat systems, are expected to result in further significant decline in PCE concentration within Plume B to drinking water standards.

EPA is presently proceeding with a separate action to amend the 2002 ROD to give NYSDEC the lead agency role to address Plume B, including any Plume B remediation, as part of its response action at the Farmingdale Plaza Cleaners site, a state Superfund site which is upgradient of the Site property and is suspected to be the source of Plume B.

Massapequa Creek Pond A Sediments (Remedial Work Element IV)

The remedial activities for Pond A sediments were initiated in September 2007 and were completed in March 2009. **Table 4** provides a chronological summary of major pond sediments remedial action construction events for Remedial Work Element IV. EPA's Final construction inspection was conducted on November 18, 2008.

Waste characterization samples were collected from the Pond A bottom prior to mobilization activities in order to pre-characterize the waste. The waste characterization analyses demonstrated that the waste was nonhazardous. A total of approximately 4,200 CY, or the equivalent of approximately 5,000 tons, of impacted sediment was excavated as determined by pre- and post-excavation surveys of the Site. The excavated sediments were transported to and disposed **off** at EPA-approved disposal facilities.

The PRPs had also conducted baseline and post-remediation sediment and surface water sampling for chemical and sediment toxicity analyses at Ponds 1 through 5 before and after the remediation of Pond A sediments, respectively. Baseline sediment sampling results revealed a maximum cadmium concentration of 44.4 mg/kg and a maximum chromium concentration of 117 mg/kg in Pond 2. Baseline surface water sampling results revealed a maximum cadmium concentration of 91 µg/L and a maximum chromium concentration of 750 µg/L in Pond 1. Baseline sediment toxicity analyses revealed that three of the four sediment samples collected at the Site were predicted to be acutely toxic. Post-remediation sampling was conducted at the same locations as the baseline that involved collection of sediment and surface water samples for chemical and bioassay analyses. Post-remediation sediment sampling results revealed a maximum cadmium concentration of 24.2 mg/kg and a maximum chromium concentration of 293 mg/kg in Pond 2. Post-remediation surface water sampling results revealed a maximum cadmium concentration of 11 µg/L and a maximum chromium concentration of 46.2 µg/L in Pond 1.

The 2002 ROD also called for implementation of a monitoring program for the remainder of the ponds within the Massapequa Preserve. The remedy for Pond A sediments has been fully implemented. The enhanced monitoring for the five lower ponds downstream of Pond A has not yet been implemented. This component of the remedy will consist of periodic surface water and

sediment sampling and bioassays. This enhanced monitoring program is also warranted based on aforementioned elevated post-remediation sediment and surface water sampling results (maximum cadmium concentration of 24.2 mg/kg and a maximum chromium concentration of 293 mg/kg in Pond 2 sediments and maximum cadmium concentration of 11 µg/L and maximum chromium concentration of 46.2 µg/L in Pond 1 surface water. It is expected that this enhanced monitoring program will further support the Agency's determination that only Pond A requires remediation, and demonstrate that, over time, removal of the contaminant source in Pond A will have a beneficial effect on downstream pond sediment quality. This enhanced monitoring program will be designed and implemented by the PRPs.

Redevelopment

In a June 19, 2007 meeting, the Town officials informed EPA that the Town had retained the services of a consulting firm to assist with engineering investigations and analysis regarding the Town's future Ellsworth Allen Park expansion development plans not only for the Western Parcel but also for the adjacent Central Parcel. This new piece of information for the Central Parcel necessitated an update to the July 2000 Baseline Human Health Risk Assessment (BHHRA) and March 2002 BHHRA Addendum, which were the basis for the remedy selected in the 2002 ROD, to determine whether the Central Parcel was suitable for recreation land use. The 2002 ROD established Site-specific cleanup concentrations in soils that would be protective of groundwater quality and would also be protective of human health for the most reasonably anticipated future uses of the Site property (i.e., commercial/industrial or recreational for the Western Parcel and commercial/industrial for the Central Parcel and Eastern Parcel).

In July 2010, the Town acquired the Central Parcel from the owners also via condemnation.

Under EPA oversight, the Town's consultant prepared and submitted to EPA for approval the November 2011 Risk Assessment Update to the July 2000 BHHRA and March 2002 BHHRA Addendum. With EPA approval, the November 2011 Risk Assessment Update concludes that soil conditions in the Central Parcel, upon completion of the soils and subsurface features remedial action in September 2011, are protective of recreational land use scenario for this area.

Vapor Intrusion Investigation

In addition, in February and early March 2006, EPA conducted a Phase I vapor intrusion investigation, which involved the collection of air samples at fifteen homes in the vicinity of the Site, and at the Woodward Parkway Elementary School in Farmingdale, New York, in order to determine if vapors associated with groundwater contamination at the Site were entering those properties. In April 2006, EPA conducted follow-up sampling of indoor air at two of the homes and at the school. The sampling results did not show any vapor intrusion impact and, therefore, do not indicate any potential impact on the health of the occupants. Since 2006, EPA has continued to conduct vapor sampling at the Woodward Parkway Elementary School and several homes, and the sampling results to date have not shown any vapor intrusion impact.

Institutional Controls

The 2002 ROD required ICs to restrict the use of the Site to commercial/industrial or, where applicable, to recreational uses for the soils remedial component and to prohibit installation or use of groundwater wells for human consumption for the groundwater remedial component. EPA expects to shortly announce an Explanation of Significant Difference (ESD) which would change the land use for the Central Parcel of the Liberty site from commercial or industrial to recreational.

The Liberty site property is comprised of three contiguous Tax Lots in Section 48, Block 518 of

the Nassau County, New York Land and Tax Map. These Tax Lots, also called the Western, Central and Eastern Parcels, are from west to east: i) Tax Lot 327 being an approximately 15-acre parcel owned by the TOB; ii) Tax Lot 331 being an approximately 7.5-acre parcel owned by TOB; and iii) Tax Lot 332 being an approximately 7.5-acre parcel owned by 55 Motor Avenue Co., LLC and leased to The Stop & Shop Supermarket Company for commercial use as a shopping center under a long term ground lease. Tax Lot 327 was acquired by the TOB in September 2003 to expand the adjacent Ellsworth Allen Recreational Park, and the ROD requires recreational use for that parcel. Tax Lot 331 was acquired by the TOB in July 2010 to further expand the park, and EPA expects that it will very shortly publish an ESD which will change the permitted use of Tax Lot 331 to recreational use. In September 2011, the legislative body of the TOB changed the zoning for Tax Lots 327 and 331 from Light Industrial to Recreational. Furthermore, under New York State legal precedents, once land has been dedicated to municipal parkland use, it cannot be diverted for uses other than recreation, in whole or in part, temporarily or permanently, even for another public purpose, without specific legislative approval of the State of New York. For the Eastern Parcel (Tax Lot 332), the ROD requires that its use be restricted to commercial or industrial purposes. The owner of that Tax Lot has imposed an Environmental Protection Easement and Declaration of Restrictive Covenants against the property restricting its use to commercial or industrial, prohibiting the installation or use of groundwater wells for human consumption, and providing that EPA and NYSDEC be third party beneficiaries with the right to enforce such restrictions. The use of groundwater at all of the Liberty site property is further institutionally controlled by State and County ordinances prohibiting installation or use of groundwater wells for human consumption.

Comment [MSOffice22]: See above comment

Operation and Maintenance (Monitoring)

The 2002 ROD projected a 20-year O&M period for the on-property and off-property GRS. As stated above, post-construction O&M of the GRS has been performed by the PRPs in accordance with the OMMP and the O&M plans prepared by the PRPs' contractors. These plans discuss general O&M activities, including system monitoring and discharge sampling as well as detailed O&M for each operable piece of equipment in the system. They also discuss Site-wide groundwater monitoring until restoration of the aquifer is complete.

In addition, to ensure that the Pond A sediments remedy is protective of the entire Massapequa Creek and Preserve, including the five lower ponds, the PRPs will design and implement the enhanced monitoring program, which will consist of periodic surface water and sediment sampling and bioassays.

V. Progress Since the Last Five-Year Review

This is the first Five-Year Review Report being conducted for the Liberty Industrial Finishing site.

VI. Five-Year Review Process

Administrative Components

The EPA five-year review team consisted of:

- Lorenzo Thantu - Remedial Project Manager
- Sal Badalamenti - Chief, Eastern NY Remediation Section
- Michael Mintzer - Assistant Regional Counsel
- Cecilia Echols - Community Involvement Coordinator
- Rebecca Ofrane – Human Health Risk Assessor

Katherine Mishkin – Hydrogeologist
Michael Clemetson – Ecological Risk Assessor
Kate Garufi - EPA Headquarters Five-Year Review Coordinator
Michael Sivak – Region 2 Five-Year Review Coordinator

Community Involvement

EPA published a public notice of the performance of the first five-year review for the Liberty Industrial Finishing Superfund site in the February 3, 2012 edition of the *Farmingdale Observer* (**Appendix 1**). EPA indicated that it would be reviewing operation, maintenance, and monitoring information with regard to the implemented actions at the Site. EPA also welcomed any public comment, including concerns about the implemented remedy.

EPA believes that the local community is informed of the current status of the Site. The first Five-Year Review Report will be made available in the local site repository, i.e., the Farmingdale Public Library, upon completion.

Document Review

This five-year review consisted of a review of relevant documents, including various RARs and groundwater monitoring data (see Section XI).

Data Review

As part of the GRS O&M, the PRPs have implemented a groundwater monitoring program in accordance with the 2002 ROD, as part of which Site property boundary monitoring wells are being sampled semi-annually and off-Site property key monitoring wells are being sampled annually. In June 2011, the most recent sampling event, a total of 32 recovery wells, monitoring wells, and piezometers were sampled as part of the semi-annual on-Site property boundary and annual off-Site property key monitoring wells. VOCs of concern related to releases from the Liberty Industrial property include TCE and degradation products of TCE, such as cis-1,2-DCE and vinyl chloride. Site-related metals are principally cadmium and chromium, specifically the more toxic form hexavalent chromium (Cr^{6+}). PCE is detected in several monitoring wells but because this contaminant has been associated with Plume B, the NYSDEC will address this contaminant of concern. A summary of groundwater sampling results, focusing on Plume A contaminants, differentiated by area and aquifer is provided below:

On-Site/Property Boundary - Upper Glacial Aquifer - TCE Data – On-Site monitoring wells situated upgradient of recovery wells indicate an overall decrease in TCE concentrations from 1991 to present day where TCE is below laboratory method detection limits. Maximum concentrations of TCE previously exceeded 1000 $\mu\text{g}/\text{l}$ (MW-02AR, MW-21AR) prior to year 2000. Remaining on-Site monitoring wells in line with recovery wells as well as property boundary wells indicated concentrations below screening criteria, with the exception of MW-38B (6.3 $\mu\text{g}/\text{l}$), and/or were eliminated after several rounds of data revealing concentrations below laboratory method detection limits. Recovery wells, RW-01, -02, and -03A have most recently shown non-detect **concentraetions** of TCE while maximum TCE concentrations measured in on-Site recovery wells was 18 $\mu\text{g}/\text{l}$ in 2002 in RW-01.

On-Site/Property Boundary - Upper Glacial Aquifer - Metals Data – On-Site monitoring wells situated upgradient of recovery wells reveal that cadmium concentrations remain above the NYSDEC screening level criteria. Since sampling was initiated in 1991, there does not appear to be an overall decrease in cadmium concentrations in the Upper Glacial Aquifer, but instead fluctuating concentrations of the contaminant over the monitoring period. Cadmium concentrations in wells upgradient of the recovery wells ranged from 8.5 $\mu\text{g}/\text{l}$ (MW-02BR) to

590 µg/l (MW-02AR) in June 2011. Wells situated in line and downgradient of recovery wells range from 0.44 to 260 µg/l (MW-39B). The majority of wells indicate concentrations are above NYSDEC screening criteria and some wells, such as MW-39B, show an increasing trend of cadmium since August 2002. Sampling results indicate that cadmium concentrations in RW-01 have decreased from 119 µg/l in May 2002 to 36 µg/l in June 2011 and a more subtle decrease is noted in RW-3A as well. Hexavalent chromium concentrations in wells upgradient of the recovery wells are all below NYSDEC screening criteria, while Cr⁶⁺ concentrations in wells in line and downgradient of recovery wells from the June 2011 sampling event ranged from non-detect to 180 µg/l (MW-40A). On-Site recovery wells indicate Cr⁶⁺ as well as total chromium concentrations are below the NYSDEC screening criteria. Again, there does not appear to be an overall decreasing trend of Cr⁶⁺, but fluctuating concentrations since the onset of the sampling program.

Mid-field – Upper Glacial Aquifer – TCE Data - Monitoring wells in the mid-field area indicate low to non-detectable concentrations of TCE. Several monitoring wells in this area have been eliminated from the sampling plan after several consistent years revealing clean sampling results. Mid-field recovery wells were installed in June 2010 and concentrations of TCE detected in RW-04 have decreased from 26 µg/l in December 2010 to 5.6 µg/l in July 2011.

Mid-field – Upper Glacial Aquifer – Metals Data – Cadmium measured in mid-field wells in June 2011, reveals a concentration range from below method detection limits in several wells to 130 µg/l in MW-17B. Similar to metals data across the site in the Upper Glacial Aquifer, there does not appear to be an overall decrease in cadmium concentrations in the mid-field area. Cadmium concentrations are relatively stable with small-scale fluctuations in concentrations. Cadmium concentrations in mid-field recovery wells have been above the NYSDEC screening criteria since their initial sampling event in December 2010. Maximum concentrations were found in RW-04 with cadmium at 140 µg/l. Hexavalent chromium concentrations exceed screening criteria in MW-29B (240 µg/l), MW-17B (200 µg/l), and MW-25B (250 µg/l) while concentrations were non-detect in MW-11B and below screening criteria in MW-17A. There appears to be an overall increasing trend in hexavalent concentrations in the mid-field area, with some smaller scale fluctuations in concentration values. For example, Cr⁶⁺ concentrations have increased from 57.4 µg/l in April 1998 to 240 µg/l (MW-29B) in June 2011 and from 29 µg/l in March 1992 to 200 µg/l (MW-17B) in June 2011. Cr⁶⁺ concentrations have been above screening criteria in all mid-field Upper Glacial Aquifer recovery wells with the exception of RW-04. Cr⁶⁺ concentrations were greatest in RW-06, but reveal a small decrease from 2010 with a drop from 150 µg/l to 130 µg/l in 2011.

Far-field – Upper Glacial Aquifer – TCE Data - Concentrations of TCE in the far-field area that are in line with Plume A indicate TCE concentrations that exceed the NYSDEC screening criteria. Remaining Plume A dedicated monitoring wells include MW-9B MW-36B, and RW-07. Concentrations in MW-09B reveal a decreasing trend of TCE with current levels below the screening level at 4.1 µg/l. MW-09A was last sampled in May 2009 when TCE concentrations were 12 µg/l. MW-36B, the most downgradient well in the sampling program for Plume A, reveals an overall increasing trend of TCE since sampling was initiated in August 1998, with current levels at 10 µg/l. Far-field recovery wells were installed in June 2010 and TCE concentrations detected in RW-07 have slightly increased from 8.3 µg/l in December 2010 to 9.4 µg/l in June 2011.

Far-field – Upper Glacial Aquifer – Metals Data – Cadmium contamination is only exceeding NYSDEC screening criteria in a single far-field Upper Glacial Aquifer monitoring well, MW-09B, with a cadmium concentration of 29 µg/l In June 2011. Concentrations have fluctuated in this well since it was introduced in the sampling program in March 1992. The only other off-site far-field Upper Glacial Aquifer monitoring well, MW-36B, indicates cadmium concentration is below NYSDEC screening criteria. Cr⁶⁺ remains high in MW-09B with an overall increase in

concentration since this well was introduced in the sampling program in March 1992 from 380 µg/l to 520 µg/l in June 2011. The remaining far-field Upper Glacial Aquifer monitoring wells reveal chromium is below the laboratory detection limit in groundwater samples.

On-Site/Property Boundary – Magothy Aquifer – TCE Data – There are no on-Site/property boundary wells that are screened in the Magothy Aquifer.

On-Site/Property Boundary – Magothy Aquifer – Metals Data – Previous sampling data indicates that metals are not a concern in the Magothy Aquifer on-Site and at the property boundary. Monitoring was discontinued after several rounds of results below method detection limits.

Mid-field – Magothy Aquifer – TCE Data – MW-11C has consistently shown the highest concentrations as well as substantial fluctuations of TCE. Concentrations are presently lower (440 µg/l) than the maximum detected in July 1992 at 1300 µg/l; however, more recently an overall decreasing trend is not evident. Remaining wells indicate TCE concentrations are below screening criteria during the last several sampling events. There is some indication for degradation processes, such as the presence of cis-1,2-DCE (14 µg/l) in MW-11C. Three recovery wells are screened mid-field in the Magothy Aquifer. During the last two sampling events, all VOC detections have been below screening criteria in these wells. Recovery wells -08, -09, and -10 were installed to capture VOCs in the Magothy Aquifer, and since their installation sampling results have shown no indication of VOCs exceeding screening criteria.

Mid-field – Magothy Aquifer – Metals Data – There is evidence of some lower level exceedances of the screening criteria of cadmium in the Magothy Aquifer, suggesting some hydraulic communication between the Upper Glacial Aquifer and the Magothy Aquifer. Cadmium concentrations range from below laboratory method detection limits to 11 µg/l in MW-29C. Concentrations in this well have shown an overall increasing trend of cadmium since it was introduced to the monitoring program in April 1998 when cadmium was below 1 µg/l. Several Magothy Aquifer monitoring wells have been eliminated from the sampling program after several monitoring episodes with concentrations below detection limits. Cr⁶⁺ concentrations are below screening criteria in all mid-field Magothy Aquifer wells. Recovery wells MW-08, -09, -10 reveal no exceedances of metals, with the exception of iron and nickel, since their installation.

Far-field – Magothy Aquifer – TCE Data – No VOC exceedances have been detected in the far-field wells screened in the Magothy Aquifer. Some low level TCE hits were found in MW-28C, a Plume B monitoring well with a detection of 2 µg/l in June 2010. Given that PCE was measured at 120 µg/l at that time, the presence of TCE may be an indicator for degradation of PCE contamination.

Far-field – Magothy Aquifer – Metals Data – Cadmium and Cr⁶⁺ have never been detected in distal wells screened in the Magothy Aquifer. Some low level detections below the NYSDEC screening level criteria of total chromium were detected in MW-28C and MW-31D, which are designated as Plume B wells.

Overall, groundwater monitoring data indicate that the concentrations of TCE are substantially lower than historical concentrations detected prior to implementation of the groundwater recovery system. However, low-level increases of TCE have been detected at several Upper Glacial Aquifer wells situated near the edge of the contaminant plume, perhaps an indicator for migration of the groundwater contaminant plume. For this reason, existing wells should be utilized and reinstated in the sampling plan in order to adequately delineate the full lateral extent of the current TCE plume. The Magothy Aquifer shows an overall decreasing trend in TCE concentrations, with the exception of MW-11C (located at Woodward Parkway Elementary School – see **Figure 2**) where the TCE concentration has fluctuated significantly compared to other wells. It is also possible that TCE concentrations may be attributed to the degradation of

Plume B, where the primary contaminant of concern is PCE; however, distinguishing the source of TCE is outside the scope of this five-year review. Degradation products of PCE and TCE have rarely been detected, but include one occurrence of cis-1,2-DCE in the Magothy Aquifer (MW-11C). This downward trend of TCE is consistent with the recovery and treatment of the contaminant in the on-Site GRS and the removal of on-Site sources. Total cadmium, total chromium, and hexavalent chromium concentrations in off-Site wells sampled in June 2011 were consistent with results over the last several sampling events. An overall decreasing trend in metals data is not evident, and somewhat of an increasing trend is noted in a few wells, but concentrations of these metals have been relatively stable throughout the monitoring period. Fluctuations may be indicative of plume migration since the GRS indicates that these contaminants are being captured and treated and the cadmium and chromium plumes appear to be contained by the GRS since downgradient wells screened in the Magothy Aquifer indicate sampling results are below NYSDEC screening criteria. Future monitoring results will be compared with baseline conditions obtained prior to implementation to guide operation of the off-Site GRS recovery system. It is anticipated that as Plume A continues to decrease in size, recovery rates can be adjusted to more effectively operate the system.

Site Inspection

A Site inspection was performed on December 12, 2011 by the following EPA and NYSDEC personnel:

EPA

Lorenzo Thantu - Remedial Project Manager
Sal Badalamenti - Chief, Eastern NY Remediation Section
Cecilia Echols - Community Involvement Coordinator
Rebecca Ofrane – Human Health Risk Assessor
Katherine Mishkin – Hydrogeologist

NYSDEC

Heather Bishop, Project Manager
Chek Beng Ng, Project Manager
John Swartwout, Section Chief

No issues were noted during the Site inspection. The Site inspection report prepared for this five-year review is provided in **Appendix 2**.

VII. Technical Assessment

Question A: Is the remedy functioning as intended by the decision documents?

The main elements of the 2002 ROD include excavation and disposal of contaminated on-Site soils, removal of contaminated materials from underground storage tanks and other subsurface features, excavation and disposal of contaminated sediments within Pond A, implementation of a monitoring program for the remainder of the ponds within Massapequa Preserve, construction and operation of pump-and-treat systems for Plumes A and B, implementation of a groundwater monitoring program, and institutional controls to prevent access to groundwater. All of these remedial components have been implemented with the exception of the installation of the on-property Plume B extraction and treatment system, which the NYSDEC will address as part of its response action at the Farmingdale Plaza Cleaners site.

Drinking water in the Liberty Industrial Finishing Site area is provided by public supply wells which are outside any possible impact from the Site. The GRS groundwater monitoring program

is in place to monitor the progress of groundwater remediation following the removal of on-Site sources. Review of the monitoring well sampling results indicates that on-Site TCE has decreased compared to historical concentrations, a trend consistent with the recovery and treatment of these constituents in the on-Site GRS and the removal of on-Site sources. TCE concentrations have decreased in the Upper Glacial Aquifer and the Magothy Aquifer in the mid-field, while they have shown a subtle increase in the Upper Glacial Aquifer in the far-field wells. As this increase in the shallower aquifer may suggest further migration of the TCE contaminant plume, it is suggested that additional pre-existing wells are reinstated in the monitoring program to be able to adequately assess long-term protectiveness by evaluating the full extent of the groundwater plume. Metal contamination throughout the Site has not revealed an overall decreasing trend in concentration values, but mass removal data for the recovery system indicates metals are effectively being removed from the groundwater. The GRS groundwater monitoring program is scheduled to continue for as long as the GRS is in operation and until the groundwater cleanup goals are attained.

The State and County ordinances restrict any future potable water well installations in the aquifer at the Liberty site and, therefore, constitute additional ICs for the groundwater remedial component, thereby effectively preventing any current or future use of contaminated groundwater until the aquifer is restored.

To ensure that the completed Pond A sediments remedy remains protective of the entire Massapequa Creek and Preserve, the PRPs will design and implement, under EPA oversight, an enhanced monitoring program for the remainder of the lower ponds that will consist of periodic surface water and sediment sampling and bioassays.

Question B: Are the (a) exposure assumptions, (b) toxicity data, (c) cleanup levels and (d) remedial action objectives used at the time of the remedy selection still valid?

Changes in land use requirements necessitated an update to the July 2000 BHHRA and March 2002 BHHRA Addendum, which were the basis for the remedy selected in the 2002 ROD. The Central Parcel, which was previously assumed to be commercial/industrial, was requested by the Town to be used as an extension of the recreational Ellsworth Allen Park. In November 2011, the updated Risk Assessment concludes that soil conditions in the Central Parcel, upon completion of the soils and subsurface features remedial action in September 2011, are protective of recreational land use scenario for this area. As also explained above, all ICs have been implemented at the Liberty site and the ESD, which is being prepared by the Agency, will confirm the change in use of the Central Parcel to recreational use.

In addition, NYDEC has taken over responsibility of Plume B remediation and off site source work. This RAO to restore this plume will be removed from the Liberty Industrial Site remedy through a pending ROD Amendment.

While a new toxicity value for TCE was released in September 2011, the toxicity value used in the human health risk assessment and addenda are still protective of human health. The groundwater MCL remains at 5 ug/L, and the selected cleanup level for soils remains more stringent than the new TCE soil levels. Therefore, the cleanup goals presented in the 2002 ROD are still valid.

Soil vapor intrusion (SVI) is evaluated when soils and/or groundwater are known or suspected to contain VOCs. Vapor intrusion investigations have been conducted for properties downgradient of the Site, including the Woodward Parkway Elementary school building. New York State

Comment [MSOffice23]: This paragraph language is better – restricts not prohibits and specifies “until the aquifer is restored.” Recommend using this language in sections identified above.

Comment [MSOffice24]: Has the EE been filed for the entire site, or just for the Eastern parcel?

Comment [MSOffice25]: Will there be both an ESD and a ROD Amendment?

Department of Health (NYSDOH) evaluated vapor intrusion data collected by EPA and issued their conclusions in a letter dated September 16, 2009. Site-related VOCs were found to be below screening levels in sub-slab soils and indoor air. One property had exceedances of non-Site-related contaminants, and indoor ambient sources were found to be the cause. EPA agreed that Site-related VOCs do not appear to be affecting properties in the vicinity of Plume A through the vapor intrusion pathway. It is recommended that NYSDEC continues to consider the potential VI pathway, as it relates to Plume B, as part of Plume B investigation and remediation.

Question C: Has any other information come to light that could call into question the protectiveness of the remedy?

Fluctuating concentrations in far-field UGA wells indicate that TCE contamination may not be fully delineated. Additional groundwater monitoring in existing wells should be administered to monitor the full lateral extent of the TCE contaminant plume.

Technical Assessment Summary

The comprehensive remedy for excavation and off-Site disposal of contaminated soils and Pond A sediments above their cleanup levels, the removal of subsurface features and USTs, and their contaminated materials content, and construction and operation of on-property and off-property Plume A pump-and-treat systems was performed in accordance with the 2002 ROD. The NYSDEC has taken over the lead role to address Plume B, including any Plume B remediation, as part of its response action at the Farmingdale Plaza Cleaners site. The ongoing groundwater monitoring program and the pending enhanced monitoring program for the remainder of the lower ponds of the Massapequa Preserve are the only active remedial components remaining to be conducted at the Site.

No one is presently using contaminated groundwater. In the future, no installation of potable wells is expected for use of groundwater in any manner that could cause an unacceptable exposure to groundwater contamination, as a result of existing controls administered and enforced by the New York State and the Nassau County Public Health Ordinances.

As for the outstanding IC for the Central Parcel, EPA is presently proceeding with a separate action to prepare and publish an ESD to notify the public of the change in the permitted use from commercial-industrial to recreational for the Central Parcel and will also require the imposition of an IC similar to that of the Western Parcel.

VIII. Issues, Recommendations and Follow-up Actions

See **Table 5**.

IX. Protectiveness Statement

The remedy currently protects human health and the environment because contaminated soils and Pond A sediments have been excavated and disposed of off Site, the pump and treat system is addressing contaminated groundwater, all ICs have been implemented, and the State and County ordinances prevent groundwater consumption. In order to be protective in the long-term, the full extent of the Plume A groundwater contaminant plume should be delineated.

Comment [MSOffice26]: Suggest "restrict"

X. Next Review

EPA will conduct another Site-wide five-year review within five years of this report.

XI. Bibliography for Liberty Industrial Finishing Superfund Site

- 1) Record of Decision for the Liberty Industrial Finishing Superfund Site *March 28, 2002*
- 2) Administrative Order on Consent for Removal Action for Phase I Demolition, *March 21, 2002*
- 3) Remedial Design & Remedial Action Consent Judgment *September 30, 2003*
- 4) Pond Sediments Remedial Action Report *December 2008*
- 5) Groundwater Remedial Action Report *September 2010*
- 6) Site-wide Groundwater Monitoring Program Report for 2005 Summer *November 2005*
- 7) Site-wide Groundwater Monitoring Program Report for Semiannual Period (July to December 2010) *June 2011*
- 8) Site-wide Groundwater Monitoring Program Report for Semiannual Period (January to June 2011) *December 2011*
- 9) Soils and Subsurface Features Remedial Action Report *September 2010*
- 10) Soils and Subsurface Features Remedial Action Report Addendum *September 2011*
- 11) Site Management Plan for the Western and Central Parcels *March 18, 2011*
- 12) Public Health Consultation Letter *September 16, 2009*
- 13) Update of Risk Assessment Addendum (Central Parcel) to the Baseline Human Health Risk Assessment *November 2011*

Table 1: Chronology of Events

DATE	EVENT
June 1986	Listing of Liberty Industrial Finishing Superfund Site on NPL
January 1994	EPA completion of Initial RI Report
April 1996	PRP completion of PCB Removal Action
July 1997	EPA completion of Initial FS Report
April 2001	PRP completion of Supplemental RI/FS
March 2002	ROD for Comprehensive Remedy
December 2002	NYSDEC's Listing of Farmingdale Plaza Cleaners Site on its Registry of Inactive Hazardous Waste Disposal Sites
December 2008	PRP completion of Subsurface Features Removal Action
December 2008	PRP Completion of Pond Sediments RAR
September 2010	PRP Completion of Groundwater RAR
September 2010	PRP Completion of Soils and Subsurface Features RAR
September 2011	PRP Completion of Soils and Subsurface Features RAR Addendum

Table 5: Recommendations and Follow-up Actions

Issue	Recommendations and Follow-up Actions	Party Responsible	Oversight Agency	Milestone Date	Affects Protectiveness (Y/N)	
					Current	Future
Monitoring	Recommend refurbishing and reinstating pre-existing monitoring wells MW-9A, MW-36A, MW-10A, MW-10B, and potentially MW-23B, contingent on sampling results from the previously listed wells	PRPs	EPA	December 31, 2012	N	Y
Plume B Vapor Intrusion Evaluation	Recommend NYSDEC continue to consider the potential VI pathway as part of its ongoing Plume B investigation and remediation	NYSDEC	N/A	N/A	N	N
Monitoring	Recommend the Design and implementation of the enhanced monitoring program	PRPs	EPA	December 31, 2012	N	N